FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/12/2019
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/9/2019 1:06 PM

97479-9

REPLACES PETITION FOR REVIEW FILED ON 7/24/19. AMENDED TO INCLUDE PROPER

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Division I's Decision Affirming Trial Court's Refusal to Recognize</u>
Mr. Villegas' Damages and Injury Resulting Directly from the Actions of
Nationstar Contravenes this Court's Decisions and Washington law.

Mr. Villegas lived in his residence located at 3457 12<sup>th</sup> Avenue West, Seattle, WA 98119 ("Residence") for years, with his family. He obtained a refinance of his mortgage in or about December 20, 2006 by signing a Promissory Note payable to Americahomekey, Inc. and a Deed of Trust, which also identified Americahomekey, Inc. as the Lender. The Note had a fixed interest rate of 6.5%. CP 520-523; 525-540.

Mr. Villegas made payments on the loan for several years but began to suffer financial problems in 2011 and into 2012 because of loss of business income and fell behind on his mortgage in January 2012, when he was making payments to Aurora. CP 898.

Mr. Villegas believed that he would have to sell the house and tried to accomplish a short sale, to no avail. He and his family wanted to stay in the house, so he tried to obtain a loan modification. CP 898. He submitted loan modification paperwork, but did not get any substantive response for months, as he fell further and further behind on his loan. He received a Notice of Pre-Foreclosure Options from Aurora's agent, and then a Notice of Default ("NOD") was posted at his Residence on or about June 28, 2012. CP 898; 903-905. The NOD was issued by Northwest

Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") as the "duly authorized agent" for "Aurora Bank, FSB", but identifying U.S. Bank as the owner of the loan. However, the accompanying FDCPA notice identified Aurora as "the creditor to whom the debt is owed". *Id*.

Shortly thereafter, he was notified loan servicing transferred to Nationstar. Mr. Villegas was unable to cure the default and the foreclosure process continued. The following ensued:

- a. Received Notice of Trustee's Sale ("NOTS") from NWTS. CP 899; 907-910. It read that the foreclosure was being conducted by Nationstar consistent with an Assignment of Deed of Trust recorded in King County on July 25, 2012. *Id*.
- b. Nationstar identified on the NOTS as the "beneficiary" of Mr. Villegas' Deed of Trust, recorded in King County on August 27, 2012 with sale scheduled for November 30, 2012. CP 907-910.
- c. Assignment signed by Brady Nicholas, Nationstar employee, July 20, 2012 as though he were an "Assistant Secretary" of "MERS, Inc. solely as nominee for Americahomekey, Inc." allegedly assigning the beneficial interest in Mr. Villegas' Deed of Trust to **Nationstar**. CP 554.
- d. NOTS was also predicated upon an Appointment of Successor Trustee executed by another Nationstar employee, Jamesia Austin, falsely asserting that Nationstar was the "beneficiary". It was recorded in King County on August 6, 2012. CP 556.
- e. Ms. Austin also signed the Beneficiary Declaration falsely asserting on July 27, 2012, that Nationstar was the "holder" of Mr. Villegas' Note. CP 2279.

Mr. Villegas sought legal advice regarding his rights in relation to the potential loss of the Residence and he was required to pay \$350.00 to meet Ms. Huelsman to understand those rights and to investigate whether the attempted foreclosure was in compliance with Washington law. CP

899. Ms. Huelsman made a referral to participate in a mediation under the

Foreclosure Fairness Act ("FFA"). RCW 61.24.163, et seq.

# <u>Deposition Testimony by Corporate Representatives</u>

NWTS' corporate representative testified to the following:

- a. There were issues from the outset about the identity of the loan owner and confirmation that U.S. Bank was the owner. CP 1846 (Pg. 38:3-17).
- b. Confirmed that the NOD is completed by the computer and that it was sent out for service on the same day. CP 1847 (Pg. 41:23-45:11).
- c. NWTS created all Nationstar signed documents to facilitate the speedy processing of the foreclosure. CP 1848 (Pg. 48:3-11.)
- d. He also confirmed that NWTS received and relied upon the Beneficiary Declaration which falsely asserted that Aurora was the noteholder on April 4, 2012. CP 1822 (Pg. 65:18-68:15).
- e. NWTS received a Beneficiary Declaration which had an incorrect loan number, name and property address and the witness, after coaching by his attorney, refused to indicate whether NWTS had relied upon the document or used it in connection with the attempted foreclosure. CP 1822-1823; 2279. He asserted that he had no idea why NWTS was in possession of the incorrect Beneficiary Declaration (CP 2279) or from whom it was received. He had no idea if there was a proper Nationstar Beneficiary Declaration that was ever produced to NWTS. CP 1823 (Pgs. 68:2-71:10).

Mr. Richardson, Nationstar's corporate representative, testified to the following:

- a. He could not explain how MERS could transfer a beneficial interest in Mr. Villegas' Deed of Trust from Aurora and then later transfer that same interest from MERS to Nationstar, especially since Nationstar was never the noteholder. CP 1848 (Pgs. 45:3-46:2); 2273; 2275.
- b. When testifying about the relationship between Nationstar, servicer, and U.S. Bank, beneficiary, he confirmed that while there were file notations about Nationstar continuing the foreclosure due to an "investor" decision, but he confirmed that the "investor" (U.S. Bank) left all such decisions up to Nationstar and that U.S. Bank had no role in any

decisions about the loan or in overseeing Nationstar's activities. CP 1853-1854 (Pgs. 107:23-109:15).

Summary judgment was granted dismissing Mr. Villegas' claims of wrongful attempted foreclosure, only issues on mediation went to trial.

### 2. Facts Related to the FFA Mediation Process.

Evidence presented at trial makes clear the following:

- a. Mediation originally scheduled for February 13, 2013.
- b. February 8, 2013, counsel for Nationstar emailed Ms. Huelsman & mediator asking for a continuance so that it could finish the review of Mr. Villegas' loan modification application. TE 37 (Pg. 5).
- c. Ms. Huelsman agreed to a continuance and a new date was scheduled for the future. TE 37 (Pgs. 1-5).
- d. Counsel for Nationstar did **not** advise Ms. Huelsman or the mediator that Nationstar had approved Mr. Villegas for a temporary loan modification ("TPP") on that same date. TE 12. VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 677-679).
- e. The first TPP was never sent to Mr. Villegas. TE 37 (Pgs. 13-14).
- f. New mediation date was scheduled for May 21, 2013. TE 37 (Pg. 1).
- g. On May 20, 2013, counsel for Nationstar emailed Ms. Huelsman to inquire as to why Mr. Villegas had never returned the February TPP nor made the required payments. TE 37 (Pgs. 14-17) VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 542-561)
- h. Ms. Huelsman confirmed that neither she nor her client had ever received the first TPP. TE 37 (Pgs. 11-14). VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 542-561)
- i. Counsel for Nationstar and Nationstar **knew** that Mr. Villegas had never received the first TPP because it was not sent by the attorneys. VR, 5/4/17 (Pgs. 442-448); TE 37 (Pgs. 11-17). VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 542-561)
- j. Counsel for Nationstar acted as though he did not know why Mr. Villegas did not have the first TPP and indicated Nationstar was going to "determine" whether another TPP "could" be generated. TE 37 (Pgs. 7-11). VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 542-561)
  - k. Nationstar was already in the process of generating a new

TPP before the first email was sent to Mr. Villegas' counsel. CP 1453-1454; VR 5/4/17 (Pgs. 442-448). VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 542-561)

- l. Counsel for Nationstar continued to falsely represent that it needed to "decide" whether to create a new TPP and reported on May 20, 2013 to Ms. Huelsman and the mediator that Nationstar was going to generate a new TPP. TE 37 (Pgs. 7-11) VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 542-561)
- m. When Mr. Villegas received the May TPP, he accepted the offer and made all three of the required payments on time. VR 5/8/17 Vol I (Pgs. 678-680)
- n. The terms of the first TPP and the May TPP were somewhat similar, but the alleged escrow arrears on the May TPP were only \$112.29. TE 12, 13, 14.
- o. Mr. Villegas received the permanent modification offer in September 2013; however, it demanded amounts allegedly owed for the escrow shortage that were incorrect and differed substantially from the TPP monthly payments. TE 16. VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 683-688, 692-693).
- p. Through the FFA mediation process, Mr. Villegas challenged the inaccuracies in the alleged escrow arrears and the amounts that were being included in the monthly payment. VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 684-689). The proposed new monthly mortgage payment under the permanent modification was more than \$200.00 per month in excess of the May TPP payment, which was supposedly explained by escrow arrears. TE 16; VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pg. 688).
- q. Mr. Villegas' dispute of the alleged escrow arrears were conveyed to the Nationstar attorney, and a response was requested. VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pg. 688).
- r. The mediator and Ms. Huelsman made multiple requests for supporting documentation and information, to no avail. TE 37 VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 553-558).
- s. There were responsive emails from counsel for Nationstar promising to get an answer, but none was ever provided. TE 37. VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 553-558).
- t. No response was forthcoming from Nationstar and as a result, the mediator issued a "not in good faith" certification, noting that he would be willing to reconsider the finding if Nationstar would provide an explanation. TE 32; TE 15.
- u. On the day after the Mediation Certificate was issued, counsel for Nationstar submitted a one-page document to the mediator and Ms. Huelsman without explanation. TE 15.
- v. Nationstar's attorney asked the mediator to change the certification, but he refused. VR 5/8/17 Vol I (Pgs. 578-584).

w. A "not in good faith" certification is a *per se* violation of the CPA. RCW 61.24.163(10); 61.24.135(2).

In her Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, as affirmed in the Decision, Judge Andrus found that Nationstar did have a representative participating in the mediation with the full authority to settle. Op. 7; CP 1461-1462. Mr. Villegas challenged that factual finding, as the record made clear that the Defendants' representatives in the FFA mediation repeatedly demonstrated that there was no meaningful authority to reach resolution. VR 5/3/17 (pp. 80-83).<sup>1</sup>

Judge Andrus noted that RCW 61.24.163(10) provides,

(10) A violation of the duty to mediate in good faith as required under this section may include:

. . . .

(c) Failure of a party to designate representatives with adequate authority to fully settle, compromise, or otherwise reach resolution with the borrower in mediation;

RCW 61.24.163(10)(c); 61.24.135(2)(a) (emphasis added). Judge Andrus held that Nationstar did not participate in the FFA mediation in good faith, which was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. Op. 7.

Judge Andrus accepted as credible Mr. Villegas' testimony that he paid for Ms. Huelsman to provide him with an initial consultation about the legal options that were available to him prior to his entry into the FFA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Richardson deposition was published to the trial court and he testified that the mediation participants did **not** have authority to make decisions about a loan modification. RCW 61.24.163(7)(a)(ii). CP 1869 (Pgs. 130:21-132:16).

mediation and that he paid Ms. Huelsman at least \$4,000.00 in attorneys' fees and costs for her work on the mediation. VR 5/11/17 (Pgs. 776-785); CP 1460. Mr. Villegas also paid Nationstar **\$9,514.97** in fees, including "lender paid expenses" and "legal fees" when he sold the house. TE 29 (Pg. 14).

On the last day of trial, Ms. Huelsman realized that as a result of being rushed to conclude on the day prior by Judge Andrus, she needed to put Mr. Villegas back on the stand to testify about his out of pocket expenses. She was then required by Judge Andrus to merely make an offer of proof as to his out of pocket expenses because she wanted to expedite the matter. VR 5/11/17 (Pgs. 776-785). Judge Andrus also found as credible Mr. Villegas' testimony about the damage to his business income resulting from the foreclosure and the inability to obtain a modification because of uncertainty about whether the monthly payment would increase immediately after he accepted the offer because no explanation was provided about the change in terms. CP 1460. However, Judge Andrus blamed business expenses incurred because of the foreclosure and Mr. Villegas' inability to get a meaningful mediation and a modification with amounts that make sense on him. In fact, Judge Andrus held that those expenses were his fault because he defaulted in the first place. CP 1462. Such language is in direct contravention of Washington case law regarding the injury and/or damages that can be incurred as a result of a wrongful attempted foreclosure, and in this case, a mediation not done in good faith. *Id.* This portion of the Findings was ignored entirely by the Court of Appeals. Even worse, both the trial court and the Court of Appeals completely ignored Mr. Villegas' argument that he was **injured** by not having a mediation that was done in "good faith", as mandated by the statute. RCW 61.24.163, *et seq.* 

The Legislative Intent behind the passage of the Foreclosure Fairness Act is embodied in the following:

(c) Provide a process for foreclosure mediation when a housing counselor or attorney determines that mediation is appropriate. For mediation to be effective, the parties should attend the mediation (in person, telephonically, through an agent, or otherwise), provide the necessary documentation in a timely manner, willingly share information, actively present, discuss, and explore options to avoid foreclosure, negotiate willingly and cooperatively, maintain a professional and cooperative demeanor, cooperate with the mediator, and keep any agreements made in mediation." [2011 c 58 §1.]

RCW 61.24.005, Notes(2)(c) – Findings – Intent – 2011 c58 (emphasis added). Nationstar did **not** meet those requirements. Because of that refusal to participate truthfully **throughout** the mediation, Mr. Villegas was denied a mediation in good faith.

The Decision relied upon Judge Andrus' "new" findings following Mr. Villegas' Motion for Reconsideration (Op. 8) which are contradicted

by his testimony, which she held was credible in her Findings. CP 1460; VR 5/8/17 Vol. I (pgs. 687-689).

In Denial of the Motion for Reconsideration, Judge Andrus found that Mr. Villegas' expenditures in connection with the mediation "would have [been] incurred . . . whether or not the parties had entered into a loan modification agreement." The Court of Appeals agreed with this analysis and cited to it. Op. 8. This ignores the fact that Mr. Villegas was entitled, when he paid those amounts for representation (\$4,000.00) and for mediator fees (\$400.00), to have a mediation conducted in good faith. RCW 61.24.163. RCW 61.24.163(9); 61.24.005 Notes. Findings – Intent. He was deprived of a "good faith" mediation by the intentional actions of Defendants. The FFA does **not** require that the parties agree to a loan modification. A homeowner is not guaranteed anything by the statute other than the opportunity "to reach a resolution, including but not limited to reinstatement, modification of the loan, restructuring of the debt, or some other workout plan." When Mr. Villegas was presented with a payment plan that made no sense and he feared being faced with the prospect of having agreed to a plan that would change shortly thereafter, he rejected that offer. VR 5/11/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 683-689). Judge Andrus found that decision to be "reasonable". CP 1460. He was denied a meaningful opportunity to "reach a resolution" because of the Defendants' misrepresentations and refusal to explain its numbers – even during the trial. CP 1450-160. VR 5/11/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 683-688).

In spite of the repeated and systemic unfair and deceptive practices by Defendants throughout the mediation, Judge Andrus found that he did not suffer an injury or damages as a result of his inability to obtain an FFA mediation that was conducted in "good faith" compliance with the requirements of the statute. CP 1460-1461. This was affirmed by the Court of Appeals. Op. 8.

Judge Andrus understood the actions and inactions by Nationstar and expressed her frustrations throughout the trial about the lack of credibility of the Nationstar witness and his testimony about the arrears (VR 5/4/17 (Pgs. 373-389), 5/11/17 Vol. I (Pgs. 585-591)), but she and the Court of Appeals did not apply her factual findings properly to the law. For that reason, the Opinion upholding her decision to dismiss Mr. Villegas' *per se* CPA claim based upon a lack of injury or damages resulting from the actions taken by Nationstar must be examined by this Court. Failure to do so will result in the gutting of any *per se* CPA claim, which is an essential component of the FFA when there is a finding of "not in good faith".

2. <u>Division I Erroneously Found that Possession by a Custodian</u> for the Benefit of the Noteholder Allowed the Custodian to also be Treated as the "Holder". Op. 10-11.

The Decision found that Aurora and Nationstar were "noteholders" because they possessed Mr. Villegas' original Note and cited to RCW 62A.3-201 in support of the position that a note may be held "directly or through an agent". Op. 10, fn. 19. However, the evidence presented to the trial court made clear that neither Aurora nor Nationstar (its successor) were ever the noteholders, as defined under Washington law. RCW 61.24.005(2) and that they only acted as servicers and custodians. Nationstar could not be an "agent" for the noteholder, U.S. Bank as Trustee, and the noteholder at the same time.

The Trust documentation presented to the trial court in connection with Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment made this clear and was outlined in detail in Mr. Villegas' Opening Brief, which is incorporated herein by reference.

# V. STANDARD ON REVIEW

# 1. <u>Standard on Review at the Court of Appeals.</u>

Division I maintained that it engaged in a *de novo* analysis under CR 56 as to whether summary judgment was appropriate, but Mr.

Moorman maintains that the Court completely ignored its mandate.

The Court of Appeals reviewed the trial proceedings as follows:

An appellate court limits its review of challenges of a trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law "to

determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's conclusions of law and judgment." Substantial evidence exists "when there is a sufficient quantum of proof to support the trial court's findings of fact." An appellate court accepts unchallenged findings of fact as true on appeal.

Op. 14.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

- A. The Decision Ignores Entirely This Court's Binding Decisions and the Intent of the Legislature in Passing the FFA.
- 1. <u>The Court of Appeals Disregarded Binding Precedent and the</u> Facts Associated with the "Not in Good Faith" Mediator Finding.

Washington case law makes clear that Mr. Villegas only needed to prove at trial that "but for" all of Nationstar's acts and/or practices, injury to him and his damages would not have occurred. *Indoor Billboard/Wash.*, *Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash. Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 59, 84 (2007). In *Indoor Billboard*, this Court adopted the proximate cause standard set forth in WPI 15.01. *Indoor Billboard*, 162 Wn.2d at 83-84 ("the proximate cause standard embodied in WPI 15.01 is required to establish the causation element in a CPA claim. A plaintiff must establish that, but for the defendant's unfair or deceptive practice, the plaintiff would not have suffered an injury."). Under WPI 15.01, "[a] cause of an [injury] [event] is a proximate cause if it is related to the [injury] [event] in two ways: (1) the cause produced the [injury] [event] in a direct sequence [unbroken by

any superseding cause], and (2) the [injury] [event] would not have happened in the absence of the cause. *See also*, *Schnall v. AT&T Wireless Services*, *Inc.*, 171 Wn.2d 260 (2011). Moreover, under WPI 15.01, there may be more than one proximate cause of an injury. *See also*, *Jonson v. Milwaukee R.R.*, 24 Wn. App. 377 (1979) (parties disputed cause of injury so court instructed jury that there can be more than one proximate cause of injury). A superseding cause may preclude a finding of proximate cause only if the intervening act is not foreseeable and is "so highly extraordinary or improbable as to be wholly beyond the expectability." *Crowe v. Gaston, supra* at 519 (1998) to find a resolution

Mr. Villegas was injured because he was denied a "good faith" mediation. RCW 61.24.163(9); 61.24.005 Notes – Findings – Intent 2011 c58 §1(2)(c). He was deprived of a meaningful opportunity to obtain a resolution of his pending foreclosure due entirely to the actions of Defendants. This constitutes an injury as defined under the CPA. RCW 19.86, *et seq.* and relevant case law.

Mr. Villegas had a reasonable expectation that the FFA mediation would allow for him to participate in "a framework for homeowners and beneficiaries to communicate with each other to reach a resolution and avoid foreclosure whenever possible." RCW 61.24.005; Note: Finding – Intent – 2011 c58 (emphasis added). He never received "effective[]

communication" nor disclosures required by the mediator. *Id.* at 2(b) & (c). CP 1460 (Findings, Para. 37).

Both Courts cited to *Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Services, Inc.*, 181 Wn.2d 412, 334 P.3d 529 (2014) in support of its determination that Mr. Villegas did not prove any monetary damages were caused by the actions of Nationstar, but did not separately analyze whether Nationstar's actions caused Mr. Villegas "injury" as described in *Frias*.

As this Court noted in *Trujillo v. NW Trustee Servs., Inc.*, 183 Wn.2d 820, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015),

Following our recent decision in *Lyons v. U.S. Bank National Ass 'n*, 181 Wn.2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014), we hold that **a trustee cannot rely on a beneficiary declaration containing such ambiguous alternative language**. Trujillo therefore alleged facts sufficient to show that NWTS breached the DTA and also to show that that breach could support the elements of a Consumer Protection Act (CPA) claim.

Trujillo at 820 (emphasis added). In Lyons v. U.S. Bank, 181 Wn.2d 775, this Court analyzed the importance of the foreclosing trustee's reliance upon a defective beneficiary declaration to proceed with a non-judicial foreclosure. It held that Ms. Lyons had sufficiently demonstrated facts which would support her claim for a CPA violation because she suffered an **injury**. Id. The Walker Court also noted that Walker had valid claims even without the foreclosure being complete because he had suffered

harm:

In Panag v. Farmers Insurance Co. of Washington, our Supreme Court held, "[T]he injury requirement is met upon proof the plaintiff's 'property interest or money is diminished because of the unlawful conduct even if the expenses caused by the statutory violation are minimal." Investigative expenses, taking time off from work, travel expenses, and attorney fees are sufficient to establish injury under the CPA.

. . . .

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