FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/9/2019 4:05 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97479-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN J. VILLEGAS

Petitioner

٧.

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, et al.

Respondents

On Appeal From King County Superior Court, Hon. Beth M. Andrus Court of Appeals, Division I, COA No. 771639-I

RESPONDENTS NATIONSTAR AND U.S. BANK'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER G. VARALLO, WSBA No. 29410 WITHERSPOON · KELLEY 422 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 1100 Spokane, Washington 99201-0300 Phone: (509) 624-5265

Counsel for Defendants/Respondents Nationstar Mortgage, LLC and U.S. Bank, N.A.

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

V. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Plaintiff fails to provide justification for this Court to accept the Petition and fails to satisfy RAP 13.4(b). Plaintiff never identifies a basis for this Court's review, and none is present because this case is a simple application of well-established law to the facts of this case. Plaintiff failed to preserve in the Court of Appeals the argument that he raises in his petition. And finally, this case has unique facts and an unusual procedural history that make it a poor vehicle for review by this Court.

A. Plaintiff Provides No Basis for Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

A petitioner seeking this Court's discretionary review must identify at least one of four bases for such review: (1) a conflict between the decision to be reviewed and a decision by this Court; (2) a conflict between the decision to be reviewed and a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) a significant question of law under the United States or

Washington Constitution; or (4) an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b). To fall within the fourth basis for review, a case must affect not only the parties to the litigation before it, but also a large portion of the public at large, otherwise the ruling might "invite[] unnecessary litigation on" the issue raised or generally create confusion about it. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005) (citation and footnote omitted).

Plaintiff does not cite to RAP 13.4 or explicitly identify a basis for this Court's review in his petition. Petition 1-17. He does, however, suggest that this case falls within the first and second bases for review by arguing that the Court of Appeals' opinion is in conflict with other decisions about the Consumer Protection Act. Petition 1, 2.

However, Plaintiff does not actually raise a legal argument about the interpretation of the Consumer Protection Act in his Petition for Review that conflicts with other decisions. Instead, he contends that he only needed to prove a "but for" standard of causation, which was not contested by the parties in this case and is not in conflict with Washington case law. Petition 13-17. His disagreement with the trial court and Court of Appeals is instead based on how that standard was applied to the facts of this case. *Id.* In his "Issues Presented For Review," Plaintiff asserts that this case is about "how the facts presented at trial . . . are analyzed

under the CPA," and he later asserts that "[the trial court judge] and the Court of Appeals did not apply [the trial court's] factual findings properly to the law." Petition 1, 11. Plaintiff therefore brings this petition not to address a conflict in the law, but to ask this Court to change the outcome of his particular case. That is not a sufficient basis for this Court's review.

The third and fourth bases are similarly not applicable. Nowhere in the petition does Plaintiff mention the United States or Washington Constitutions. Petition 1-17. And his petition is about unique facts that are specific to this case; review of the Court of Appeals' opinion would not have any effect on the general public.

Additionally, Plaintiff's argument in his Petition for Review lacks merit because the Court of Appeals accurately determined that Plaintiff "did not present any evidence" establishing causation. Opinion 16. Although Plaintiff asserted that he had been injured by having to pay attorney's fees, the Court of Appeals found that Plaintiff would have paid those attorney's fees "no matter what happened." *Id.* And even though Plaintiff asserted that his credit score had been damaged, the Court of Appeals determined that Plaintiff "did not present any evidence of a causal link" associated with Plaintiff's credit score. *Id.* This Court reviews the trial court's factual findings only to determine if they are supported by "substantial evidence." and it defers to those findings. *See Keene Valley*

Ventures, Inc. v. City of Richland, 174 Wn. App. 219, 223-24 (2013); Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza Inc., 153 Wn. App. 710, 717 (2009).

Overall, the Petition for Review is nothing more than a last-ditch attempt at obtaining reconsideration of a ruling that Plaintiff dislikes. It presents no conflict with other opinions, no constitutional issues, and no issues of substantial public interest. Review by this Court, therefore, is not justified.

B. This Case is Not a Good Vehicle for Review Because Plaintiff Failed to Preserve the Argument He Raises in His Petition for Review.

For this Court to grant a petition for review, it must be able to review an argument that was properly presented and resolved below. *Pappas v. Hershberger*, 85 Wn.2d 152, 154 (1975) ("Having failed to properly raise or preserve the present issue in either the trial court or Court of Appeals, we will not consider it here for the first time on appeal."). In the Court of Appeals, an issue must be raised in the briefing to be preserved. RAP 10.3(a), (g); *see also State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 257-58 (1995) (limiting the issues addressed on appeal to the issues raised in the appellate briefing); *Sepich v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 75 Wn.2d 312, 319 (1969) ("An assignment of error that is not argued in the brief cannot be considered.").

In his Petition for Review, Plaintiff asks this Court to analyze whether the Court of Appeals properly applied the "but for" standard of causation and injury under the Consumer Protection Act. Petition 1, 13-17. He begins his argument by relying extensively on *Indoor Billboard/Wash., Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 59 (2007), and by discussing the definition of proximate causation provided in Washington Practice Jury Instruction 15.01. Petition 13-14. Plaintiff then quotes several cases with general statements about the Consumer Protection Act, and closes by relying on *FTC v. Wells*, 385 F. App'x 712 (9th Cir. 2010), to argue that causation should be interpreted broadly to include actions that merely "facilitated" the purported harm. Petition 14-17.

However, this argument was not briefed in the Court of Appeals. Plaintiff's opening brief on appeal raised a variety of arguments about the trial, but none of them addressed the "but for" standard of causation and injury that were raised in the petition. Appellant's Opening Br. 41-47. Plaintiff's opening brief only quotes *Indoor Billboard* to analyze the issue about Nationstar's authority to foreclose on summary judgment, and not the trial about damages. Appellant's Opening Br. 38-39. Plaintiff also never cited *FTC v. Wells* or made any comparable arguments in his opening brief. *See* Appellant's Opening Br. 41-47. Plaintiff did not file a

reply brief on appeal, and as a result, no issues about the "but for" standard of causation and injury were litigated on appeal.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals correctly acknowledged the "but for" standard in its opinion. It wrote: "Where a more favorable loan modification would have been granted but for bad faith in mediation, the borrower may have suffered an injury to property within the meaning of the CPA." Opinion 15 (citation omitted)). The Court of Appeals, however, did not need to analyze that standard further because Plaintiff had not raised any challenge to it. Plaintiff only started discussing the trial court's use of the "but for" standard in a motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals, but at that point, the issue had not been preserved and the Court of Appeals denied Plaintiff's motion. Motion for Reconsideration 10-13: Reconsideration Order.

If Plaintiff wanted to raise an issue about the causation standard under the Consumer Protection Act, he should have done so in a timely manner on appeal. Because he failed to do so, the Court of Appeals did not analyze any such issue, and this Court has no such ruling to review. This Court should therefore deny Plaintiff's Petition because Plaintiff failed to preserve on appeal the issue he raises in his Petition.

C. This Case is Not a Good Vehicle for Review Because of Its Unusual Factual and Procedural History.

Plaintiff asserted that he had been injured by Nationstar's incomplete explanation of the escrow calculations after the in-person mediation session, and he needed to prove these facts at trial. But this case does not involve a typical mediation under the Foreclosure Fairness Act, and the actions of Plaintiff's counsel at trial sets the procedural history of this case apart from other cases.

At trial, the court heard testimony from Plaintiff and from a corporate representative for Nationstar. CP 1450. The court also considered the CR 30(b)(6) deposition testimony from a Nationstar representative and the exhibits admitted at trial. CP 1450. Plaintiff had a full opportunity to present his evidence and make his case at trial.

Plaintiff testified at trial that he only participated in one mediation session, which was in December 2012. Trial RP 747. He continued to be satisfied with Nationstar's calculations until he received his permanent loan modification offer almost a year later in September 2013, which was when he first had questions about Nationstar's escrow calculations. Trial RP 748-49. But despite Plaintiff's confusion over the escrow calculations, Plaintiff did not request another mediation session; he simply exchanged emails about the permanent loan modification offer. Trial RP 481, 748-

49. In January 2014, the mediator found that "[a]ttorneys for the beneficiary made great effort to escalate the matter with Nationstar and get an explanation for the increase [in escrow payments]," but "[n]one [was] forthcoming." CP 895.

As the trial was coming to a close, Plaintiff's counsel realized that she had forgotten to present evidence of causation and Plaintiff's purported injuries:

[Plaintiff's Counsel]: So Your Honor, I had one issue I needed to address, and I apologize, because obviously I want this to move along also. In going through my preparation for closing, I was going through my checklist of everything that I had on my checklist, and I'm concerned that in the rush to get Mr. Villegas's testimony completed, I forgot to ask him the specific question about the amount of money that he paid me.

Trial RP 776. Without any evidence of legal fees, Plaintiff's counsel agreed to stipulate to the existence of Plaintiff's injuries. Trial RP 784-85; CP 1460. Specifically, Plaintiff stipulated that he had paid \$350 for an initial consultation with his attorney after he received the notice of trustee's sale in August 2012, and then spent \$4,000 in legal fees in connection with the mediation. Trial RP 784-85; CP 1460. The \$350 initial consultation fee was incurred before Plaintiff hired his attorney, and it was therefore incurred before September 2013. *See* Trial RP 784-85; CP 1460. As for the \$4,000 of legal fees, Plaintiff failed to present any

evidence showing that these fees were incurred after September 2013. Trial RP 781. The trial court therefore had substantial evidence showing that Plaintiff's legal fees were not caused by Nationstar's incomplete explanation of its escrow calculations. CP 1462, 1768.

Plaintiff also testified that the mediation damaged his credit, but he did not provide any documentation to support this assertion and he also did not provide specific numbers to quantify the purported injury to his credit score. Trial RP 765-66. Furthermore, his testimony was inconsistent with his deposition testimony, in which he admitted that his credit score had been damaged by his default on the loan in January 2012, and not Nationstar's inability to explain its escrow calculations in September 2013. See CP 593, 602. And Plaintiff's credit score would have suffered from two other mortgages that he had, and he defaulted on at least one of them at the same time that he defaulted on his loan in this case. Trial RP 659-60, 654-55, 697, 700. The trial court therefore had substantial evidence to conclude that any damage to Plaintiff's credit "occurred as a result of his non-payment of his mortgage long before the mediation, and not as a result of Nationstar's mediation conduct." CP 1462.

Indeed, instead of injuring Plaintiff, the record shows that Plaintiff actually *profited* from the sale of the secured property. In October 2015,

Plaintiff sold the property for a profit of \$7,246.84. Trial RP 176, 697, 756. He testified that he sold the property, not as a result of anything that happened at mediation, but because he wanted "to avoid the judicial foreclosure going through." Trial RP 756. Even if Plaintiff's injury could consist of the \$4,350 that he spent on legal fees, the profit that he made from the sale would still be greater than his injuries.

Based on this evidence, the trial court found that Plaintiff "failed to prove that Nationstar's [Consumer Protection Act] violation caused him to incur any injury to his business or his property." CP 1462. Plaintiff moved for reconsideration of this ruling, and after reexamining the evidence, the trial court again found that, "[b]ased on the evidence presented at trial," Plaintiff had indeed failed "to establish that Nationstar's bad faith caused him any injury." CP 1768. This was the correct ruling, based on the unique facts of this case and the unusual fact-finding at trial.

In the Petition for Review, Plaintiff acknowledges that the trial was conducted in unusual circumstances. Petition 8. Plaintiff writes in his Petition for Review:

On the last day of trial, [Plaintiff's counsel] realized that as a result of being rushed to conclude on the day prior by [the trial court], she needed to put [Plaintiff] back on the stand to testify about his out of pocket expenses. [Plaintiff's counsel] was then required by [the trial court] to merely

make an offer of proof as to [Plaintiff's] out of pocket expenses because [the trial court] wanted to expedite the matter.

Id. This explanation of Plaintiff's lack of evidence unfairly tries to blame the trial court for the mistakes made by Plaintiff's counsel.⁴ Nonetheless, the quote demonstrates that even Plaintiff acknowledges that the procedural history of this case is unusual and he suggests that it affected the outcome of his case. All of these facts, taken together, show that the mediation and the facts adduced at trial do not present a good vehicle for analyzing the causation requirement of the Consumer Protection Act.

VI. CONCLUSION

For each of the three reasons stated above, Defendants ask this Court to deny Plaintiff's Petition for Review.